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)
July 23, 1998



)

RELIANCE NATIONAL INDEMNITY CO.,
)



)


Insurer,
)
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)

                                                          )


We heard Employee's claim for compensation on June 25, 1998, in Anchorage Alaska.  Attorney William T. Ferrell represents Employee.  Attorney Constance E. Livesey represents Employer and its Insurer.  We closed the record at the hearing's conclusion.


ISSUES

1.  Is Employee entitled to an award of temporary total disability benefits (TTD) for the period after February 1, 1998?


2.  Is Employee entitled to an award of interest on any installment of TTD benefits?


2.  Is Employee entitled to a penalty under AS 23.30.155(e) on any installment of TTD benefits?


4.  Is Employee entitled to an award of attorneys fees and costs?


SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENTS

Employee is a twenty-seven year old woman with no prior history of lung or breathing disorders.  She worked for Employer as a ramp agent in Kodiak and, from August 1996 to October 1997, as a painter of ground equipment and aircraft parts at the Anchorage airport.  The parties agree that in the course and scope of her work as a painter,  Employee was repeatedly exposed to a variety of chemical fumes, including amines, isocyanates and methyl ethyl ketone.  The parties agree that exposure to one or more of these chemicals caused Employee to suffer a recognized lung disease: occupational asthma (also called occupational bronchitis).


Ajit S. Arora, M.D., Employer's Independent Medical Evaluator (EIME), described occupational asthma as an immunologically mediated response to an irritating chemical.  Repeated long term exposure to the irritant causes sensitization of the lungs.  Once sensitization has occurred, exposure to the sensitizing chemical or other pulmonary irritants, such as perfumes, hair sprays, auto exhaust, and cold weather, will induce an immunological response and bronchospasm.


Employee sought treatment for her lung problems from Dale J. Trombley, M.D., on September 30, 1997.  Dr. Trombley referred Employee to George Stewart, M.D., a pulmonologist.  On October 2, 1997, Dr. Stewart noted Employee probably suffered from toxic bronchitis and ordered pulmonary function tests.  Employee's x‑rays and pulmonary function tests showed abnormalities.


Dr. Stewart advised Employee to take time off from work to get away from the fumes.  On October 2, 1997, Employee advised Employer of Dr. Stewart's advice and completed a report of occupational illness listing her date of injury as October 1, 1997.  Employee was away from work from October 3 to October 13, 1997.


In reply to Employer's request for a diagnosis of Employee's condition, on October 8, 1997, Dr. Stewart wrote to Employer as follows:


Heather may return to work but she is not to have exposure to polyurethane paint vapor or other toxic vapor.  She has a follow-up appointment on 10/14/97.  A more definitive course of action may be determined then.


Employee returned to work on October 13, 1997 and, although not working as a painter, she was assigned to work in an area where she was exposed to fumes.  The following day, Employee left work to keep an appointment with Dr. Stewart.


Dr. Stewart's chart notes of Employee's October 14, 1997 visit state that "Heather continues to have significant dyspnea and cough.  She is back to work but continues to be exposed to significant levels of fumes even though she is away from the . . . ."
  Dr. Stewart provided Employee with a prescription form dated October 14, 1997 stating: "Ms. Stewart is to remain off work unless she can be provided with a totally fume free environment."


On October 15, 1997 Employee delivered Dr. Stewart's note to Employer and has not returned to work since that date.  Employer asked Dr. Stewart's office to clarify what Dr. Stewart meant by a "fume free environment".  On October 16, 1997 Dr. Stewart's office responded with a fax to Employer stating "the fumes as per Dr. Stewart are: paint, gasoline, diesel, and solvents."

 
Following her appointment with Dr. Stewart, in mid-October 1997,
 Employee met with Lana Steinert, an Administrative Assistant,  and James Vande Voorde, Senior Vice President of Era Aviation, to discuss Employee's work status.  Steinert testified that they discussed the difficulty of providing Employee a "fume free" work environment and the possibility of placing her in the accounting department, "scanning" documents into microfiche format.   Steinert said when Employee reported she was could not be in contact with perfume, "it put another damper on bringing her back."  There is no dispute that Employer did not formally offer Employee the scanner's position or any other position at this meeting.


 Steinert testified that at the conclusion of their meeting she told Employee "to take some time to think about what you would really like to do within the restrictions Dr. Stewart set forth."  It is undisputed that Employee did not contact Employer about future work for Employer.


Employee testified that at the conclusion of this meeting the option for her to continue working for Employer was "left open" and she looked to Employer to make her a formal job offer.  It is undisputed that Employer did not offer Employee an alternative position until January 29, 1998.


All physicians examining Employee have found her to be capable of working, but with the significant limitation that she not be exposed to respiratory irritants that cause asthma attacks. Dr. Trombley's report of October 7, 1998 states that "perfumes, hair sprays, etc." cause Employee to go into bronchospasm.  But, he "[a]lso advised that she go back to work in an environment that is avoiding air pollutants, chemicals, fumes, etc.  Be careful around hair sprays."


Dr. Stewart testified that in mid-October 1997 Employee could have been employed in light duty work, not baggage handling or work requiring heavy lifting, provided she was not exposed to fumes or other respiratory irritants. In Dr. Stewart's opinion, the Employee could have worked indoors in an office setting, provided that she was not exposed to a malfunctioning copying machine, excessive perfume, or cigarette smoke.  Dr. Stewart's chart notes for Employee's October 28, 1997 visit state she "remains sensitive to vapors and should avoid fume and cold air exposure."

On November 24, 1997, Dr. Stewart wrote to Fannie Stoll at the Workers' Compensation Board.  His letter states in pertinent part:


I think it should be perfectly clear that Ms. Stewart is a victim of exposure to polyurethane paints, in particular methyl ethyl ketone at work, which is hindering her breathing.  I think it would be impossible to conceive of a situation in which it would be safe for her to return to work if she is still exposed to those fumes.  I think she must be considered as having a permanent disability for that particular job.  Although, she is perfectly capable of being employed in other settings.

Dr. Stewart testified that by "other settings" he meant settings that avoid significant physical exertion, smoke, or other respiratory irritants.


The EIME physician, Dr. Arora, examined Employee on December 5, 1997.  The report of his examination, tests and medical record review states in pertinent part:


Ms. Stewart further noted that a variety of external factors exacerbate her asthma and cause wheezing.  These include aerosol perfumes, hair sprays, auto exhaust, cold air "When it is 20 or below," and exercise.  She has noted that vigorous exercise will bring on wheezing, "I can ride a bike but I can't do stair climbing."  She is not able to work out doing weight training that she did before.  However, she is gradually increasing her activity level and has been noticing progressively better exercise tolerance with time.


. . . 


In my opinion no further workup or investigation is necessary because Ms. Stewart's history is quite compatible and actually classic for onset of occupational asthma.  Her sensitivity to other pulmonary irritants such as perfumes, hair sprays, auto exhaust, etc., is not unexplained.  Once a person develops airway sensitization and airway hyperactivity, they are likely to respond with bronchospasms to any nonspecific pulmonary irritation.  In such individuals, cold exposure and exercise will also induce bronchospasm.  Exercise cools the airways down and has the same effect as being exposed to cold air.


. . .


In occupational medicine, the standard is that a worker diagnosed with occupational asthma be kept away from exposure for at least a year before the final evaluation is done and prognosis is determined. . . . Meanwhile, Ms. Stewart could go back to any occupation where exposure to respiratory irritants can be avoided.


. . . 


At this point I would not advise work as a painter because once a person is sensitized, exposure to even undetectable quantities of sensitizing chemicals can bring on an asthma attack.  Therefore I would recommend that Ms. Stewart not work as a painter for at least one year. After that, if her asthma has subsided she could probably go back to work as a painter but not working with polyurethane paints.


As noted earlier, workers developing occupational asthma are not considered to have reached medical stability for at least a year from the diagnosis.


Employee testified that, in addition to paint fumes and solvents, she learned through experience that numerous common substances exacerbate her asthma and cause her to suffer bronchospasms.  Dr. Stewart testified that experiential discovery of a patient's particular sensitivity to specific respiratory irritants is typical of asthma patients.


The doctors treating and examining Employee frequently identified the respiratory irritants which Employee should avoid in general terms, such as, "chemicals," "fumes," "air pollutants," "toxic vapor," "aromatics" and "etc."  The record reflects that, in addition to paints (particularly polyurethane paint) and solvents, Employee's doctors have at various times identified the following specific respiratory irritants as causing Employee to suffer an asthma attacks: exposure to cold weather, vigorous exercise, hair sprays, heavy perfumes, household cleaners ("Formula 409", "Windex," "Clorex"), ammonia, gasoline, diesel fuel, kerosene, aviation fuel vapors, exhaust fumes, dust, and cigarette smoke.


Employee stated that exposure to a respiratory irritant causes her to suffer an asthma attack that lasts for approximately two hours.  Her attacks start with shortness of breath and dizziness.  During the attack she has difficulty speaking or breathing, becomes light headed, weak, and has a hard time standing.  Following  an attack, Employee testified she is left very weak, with no energy, lightheaded, and in a daze for approximately 24 hours.  Although she takes "rescue medication" ("Maxair") to open her lungs during an attack, she testified that drugs do not make the effects of the attack go away.


The degree of exposure to a respiratory irritant that triggers Employee's attacks varies with the specific irritant.  For instance, Employee stated that small amounts of perfume do not cause an attack, but heavy perfume use does.  Employee testified that  exhaust infiltrating into her car from driving in proximity to a diesel truck will cause her to an suffer attack.  While an attack from this degree of exposure to diesel exhaust is not as severe as one following exposure to "Windex," Employee must pull her car off the road, wait for the most severe symptoms to subside and, when she is able to drive again, she must return directly to her house until the attack subsides completely.


Dr. Stewart testified Employee is very sensitive to cold, and that exposure to temperatures below 15 degrees Fahrenheit for as little as two minutes can cause Employee bronchospasms.  At temperatures of -10 degrees or less, as little as one or two breaths can cause Employee to suffer an attack.  Dr. Stewart said the irritating effects of cold weather can be ameliorated by wearing a cloth mask.  He testified that if Employee is wearing a mask during cold weather, she should be able to slowly walk from her house to her car, or her car to a work place without suffering an asthma attack.


There is no dispute that in January 1998, while collecting TTD from Employer,  Employee became a full time student at University of Alaska Anchorage (UAA).  During the spring semester she earned 12 credit hours and was at the time of our hearing, enrolled in UAA summer school.  Employee testified that she wished to return to school because Dr. Stewart advised her to never return to work as a painter or auto body mechanic and suggested she secure further education to move to another profession.  Dr. Stewart's opinion is consistent with the opinion of the EIME physician, Dr. Arora, who wrote in his December 17, 1997 evaluation, "I would strongly recommend a vocational rehabilitation effort at this time.  Ms. Stewart is quite motivated and a very driven young lady with a desire to succeed."    Employee disclosed her desire to return to school, and to acquire occupational skills other than painting, to Ms. Steinert at their meeting in mid-October 1997.


On January 19, 1998,
 Vande Voorde wrote to Employee requesting she attend a meeting  January 26th "to discuss your future employment."  [Ex. 8]  Employee immediately notified Employer that she could not attend a meeting on January 26th and suggested January 29, 1998.  Employer responded in a letter dated January 23, 1998 confirming the January 29th date and concluded by stating:  "[s]hould you opt not to attend this meeting I will consider this your resignation from Era Aviation, Inc."  [Ex.2]


On January 29, 1998 Employee met with Steinert and Vande Voorde at Employer's offices.  Employee testified that at this meeting Employer asked if she wanted to come back to work and offered her a job as a "ramp technician" "cleaning aircraft, cars, and cleaning around hangars, inside and out."
  Employee said she told the Employer "fine" if Dr. Stewart approved the job, and Employer said "fine."


Steinert testified Employer was prepared to be "very flexible" with Employee and that, with approximately 600 positions in Anchorage,  Employer could move Employee around to meet the Employee's respiratory exposure restrictions as they presented themselves.    For instance, if the weather were too cold for Employee to work outside, she would have been assigned to "fleet services" to work inside a hangar stocking aircraft with snacks and beverages.  Steinert testified Employer has indoor positions for ticket agents within the passenger terminals, but there is no dispute Employer never offered Employee a ticket agent position or the "scanner" position that was discussed in October.


Steinert testified that the "ramp technician" job would have entailed light cleaning and vacuuming of aircraft, washing and vacuuming company vehicles, and indoor facilities maintenance.  She testified that vehicles are driven into the hangar where they are cleaned and serviced.


Following the January 29th meeting, Ms. Steinert contacted Dr. Stewart's office to determine whether the doctor would approve Employee's return to work as a ramp technician.  She testified that she spoke with Tom Stafford, Dr. Stewart's nurse, who stated to her there was no need for her to speak with Dr. Stewart, the position of ramp technician was approved for Employee, but to watch out for cold air and fumes.  Shortly after the meeting with Employer, Employee received a telephone call from Steinert.  Employee testified that Steinert told her she had spoken with Dr. Stewart
 and the job was approved.  Employee testified she then called Dr. Stewart's office and was told the doctor was out of town.
  Employee said Nurse Stafford told her that he had spoken with Employer and he had not approved the ramp technician job.


Employee testified that she did not contact Employer following her conversation with Nurse Stafford, because she believed the ramp technician position had not been approved by Dr. Stewart.  It is undisputed that Employee did not attend work to start the ramp technician job on February 2, 1998.  On the morning of February 3, 1998, Employee received a hand-delivered letter from Employer stating: Since you did not show up or call in [on February 2], I will consider this your voluntary resignation at ERA Aviation." [Ex.3].  There has been no further contact between Employee and Employer since February 3, 1998.


Employee spoke with Dr. Stewart on February 3, and he advised her against taking the ramp technician's job.  On February 4, 1998, Dr. Stewart wrote to Employer as follows:


Heather informs me your company haa (sic) offered her a return to work position as a handyman cleaning vehicles and aircraft.  I understand these duties are performed in and out-of-doors.


Heather, at present, remains sensitive to our cold winter air.  She also is sensitive to aromatics (i.e. perfumes), cleaning agents (i.e. Windex, Formula 409, etc.) and petroleum products (i.e. gasoline, kerosene and aircraft fuel vapor).  Any of these type agents can trigger an acute exacerbation of respiratory distress.


Job duties exposing her to these type (sic) of agents on an apparent full time basis are contraindicated.  I do not concur with the proposed job duties.

Employer stopped paying TTD effective February 1, 1998.  On February 26, 1998  Employer controverted "Indemnity Benefits effective 02/02/98."


On October 30, 1997, Employee requested an evaluation of her eligibility for reemployment benefits. On January 6, 1998, Employee's case was assigned to rehabilitation specialist Elisa Conley.  As part of Conley's evaluation she submitted occupational demands for "baggage checker" and "air cargo agent" jobs, as set out  in  the 1981 Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (SCODOT)  to Dr. Stewart.  Under the heading "Environmental Conditions," the SCODOT descriptions indicate that these jobs are "Inside: Protection from weather conditions but not necessarily from temperature changes."  On February 25, and March 11, 1998, Dr. Stewart signed these job descriptions (without comment), indicating that he approved these jobs for Employee.  On April 13, 1998 the Reemployment Benefits Administrator determined that Employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits based on Dr. Stewart's approval of these jobs.


Dr. Stewart testified that if the occupational demands for baggage checker and air cargo agent had listed exposure to exhaust fumes or other environmental stresses, such as household cleaners, he would not have approved these positions.  Instead he would have approved these positions "with modifications," the proviso being that Employee not be exposed to exhaust fumes or other environmental stresses.


Employee stipulated to Conely's qualifications as an expert witness.  Conley testified that she followed up on her eligibility evaluation with a labor market survey of  the baggage checker and cargo agent positions, as those positions are defined and described in the SCODOT.  Conley testified that, in her opinion, a viable labor market exists for these positions in Anchorage and in Alaska, with current and anticipated openings, at wages varying between $7.50 and $13.40 per hour.  There was, however, no evidence presented concerning whether a viable labor market exists for baggage checker or air cargo agent positions with the respiratory irritant restrictions Dr. Stewart imposed on Employee.


Finally, the parties stipulated to the authenticity, accuracy, and admission into evidence of  check stubs attached to Employee's TTD payments and an Employer printout of TTD payments its insurer made to Employee.  This evidence will be analyzed and discussed below.


Employee asserts that, because of her occupational asthma doctors have restricted her from exposure to paints, to cold air, and to many common chemicals. As a result Employee is incapable of earning the wages she was receiving at the time of her injury and is, thus, disabled and entitled to continuing TTD benefits.  In support of this contention, Employee argues that, subject only to Dr. Stewart's exposure restrictions, she has at all times been willing and available to return to work for Employer.  However, the only position Employer offered to her, that of a ramp technician, involved duties necessarily entailing environmental exposures that were not approved by Dr. Stewart and is, therefore, a job she is incapable of performing.  Finally, Employee argues Employer's deficient and untimely payments of TTD prior to February 2, 1998 entitle Employee to interest and penalties.


Employer admits that Employee's lungs were injured in the course and scope of her employment, but asserts Employee has never been disabled.  Employer points out that no doctor removed Employee from all work, only from work environments that expose her to certain respiratory irritants.  Employer stresses that there is no evidence Employee encountered respiratory difficulties attending college while she was collecting TTD.


The Employer argues it was extraordinarily willing to accommodate the work limitations caused by Employee's occupational asthma. It advised Employee of an office position that was open, available to her, but Employee never followed up on this job.  It invited Employee to tell it what kind of job she thought she needed and wanted.  Employee never responded to this invitation.  In January 1998, Employer formally offered Employee a ramp technician position with modified duties crafted to be within the restrictions specified by Dr. Stewart.  It also expressed to Employee its willingness to accommodate whatever health considerations arose in the course of performing of her ramp technician duties. Employer asserts that Employee failed to call or show up for work because she was not interested in preserving the employment relationship.


Employer asserts that Employee was never "disabled" and that Employee's failure to earn wages is due to her voluntary removal from the labor market to pursue education, and not incapacity as a result of her occupational disease.  Therefore, Employer asserts Employee was not entitled to the TTD benefits she received and not entitled to any additional TTD benefits.  Employer admits that some of its past payments of TTD were not timely made, however in light of its assertion that no TTD benefits were lawfully due to Employee, it seeks to offset any interest or penalty we might otherwise award against previous TTD payments made to Employee.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Is Employee Entitled to Additional TTD Benefits?

In determining whether an employee is entitled to a continuation of temporary disability benefits we are required to apply the presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a) . Olsen v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 672 (Alaska 1991); Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471,474 (Alaska 1991).  Applying the presumption of compensability is a three step process.


In the first step we must determine whether the employee has produced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that the injury entitles Employee to Workers' Compensation benefits.  To raise the presumption an Employee need only adduce "some" "minimal" relevant evidence
 establishing a "preliminary link" between the injury claimed and employment,
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability,
 or the continuing entitlement to a benefit.
  If Employee's evidence establishes the preliminary link, we presume Employee's injury is compensable and the burden of producing contrary evidence shifts to Employer.


In the second step, we must determine whether Employer has met its  burden of producing contrary evidence.
  To rebut the presumption, Employer must produce "substantial evidence" that "either 1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability."
  Employer evidence that simply points to other possible causes of Employee's injury or disability, without ruling out work-related causes, cannot overcome the presumption of compensability.
  "Substantial evidence"  is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to Employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine Employer's evidence in isolation.
   We defer questions of credibility and the weight to give Employer's evidence until after we have decided whether an Employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that Employee's injury entitles the employee to compensation benefits.
  If Employer produces substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability, the presumption drops out, and we move to the third step.


In the third step, Employee bears the burden of proving all elements of the claim by a preponderance of the evidence.
 The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the triers of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.


In a claim for disability benefits, "loss of earning capacity" is the defining characteristic.  Kramer, 807 P.2d at 474.  As used in the Workers' Compensation Act (Act), "disability" means an "incapacity because of an injury to earn wages which the employee was receiving at the time of the injury in the same or any other employmentent."   AS 23.30.395(10).  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 524 P.2d 264, 266-67 (Alaska 1974) the court discussed the concept of disability compensation:


The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

AS 23.30.200(b) directs how an employee's wage earning capacity is to be determined:


The wage-earning capacity of an injured employee is determined by the actual spendable weekly wage of the employee if the actual spendable weekly wage fairly and reasonably represents the wage-earning capacity of the employee.  The board may, in the interest of justice, fix the wage-earning capacity that is reasonable, having due regard to the nature of the injury, the degree of physical impairment, the usual employment and other factors or circumstances in the case that may affect the capacity of the employee to earn wages in a disabled condition, including the effect of disability as it may naturally extend into the future. (emphasis added)

The "factors to be considered making [a finding of wage-earning capacity] include not only the extent of the injury, but also age, education, employment available in the area for persons with the capabilities in question, and intentions as to employment in the future." Vetter, 524 P.2d at 266-67.  Additional factors to be considered in determining wage earning capacity include employee's work history, trainablity, and whether work suited to employee's capabilities is regularly and continuously available in the community.  Hewing v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 512 P.2d 896,, 899 (Alaska 1973).


Under the Act compensable temporary disability can be total (AS 23.30.180)
 or partial (AS 23.30.200)
 in character.  The Act does not define "total disability."  However, the Alaska Supreme Court held that:


For workmen's compensation purposes, total disability does not mean a state of abject helplessness.  It means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonable stable a market for them does not exist.

J.B. Warrack Co. v. Roan, 418 P.2d 986, 988 (Alaska 1966) (rev'd on other grounds)(citations omitted).


There is no dispute Employee contracted occupational asthma in the course and scope of employment and that as a result, she has become sensitive to a variety of chemicals and respiratory irritants that are common in the work place and the general environment . The Employee testified exposure to these common chemicals or irritants causes her to suffer severe breathing difficulties, rending her unable to speak, to stand, or to drive.  The effects of an attack last up to 24 hours.  Employer accepted the claim, paying Employee TTD during most of the periods when she was restricted from working as a painter.


The fact that an employee suffered a work related injury for which compensation is received from the employer is sufficient to establish a preliminary link between employment and disability.  Kramer, 807 P.2d at 474 n.6.  "Once an employee is disabled, the law presumes that the employee remains 'disabled unless and until the employer introduces substantial evidence to the contrary.'"  Baker v. Reed-Dowd Co., 836 P.2d 916, 919 (Alaska 1992) (quoting  Olsen, 818 P.2d at 672).   We find that there is no evidence Employee has earned wages since leaving work on October 14, 1997 and Employer admits in its answers and compensation reports that Employee was eligible to receive TTD until February 2, 1998.  Based on these findings and the foregoing authorities we conclude Employee established a preliminary link between her work-related illness and her total disability, raising the presumption she is entitled to continuing TTD benefits.


Employer asserts occupational disease is not a substantial cause of Employee's failure to earn wages.  Employer offers the alternative explanation that Employee voluntarily removed herself from the labor market to attend college.  


It is well established law in Alaska that an employee has a responsibility to mitigate damages caused by his injury.  Bignell v. Wise Mechanical Contractors, 651 P.2d 1163, 1168 (Alaska 1982). "The law contemplates that the injured workman will do everything humanly possible to restore himself to his normal strength so as to minimize his damages"  Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Ind. Brd., 17 Alaska Reports 658, 663 (Dist. Ct., Alaska 1958).  "If a claimant, through voluntary conduct unconnected with his injury, takes himself out of the labor market, there is not compensable disability."  Vetter, 524 P.2d at 266; Miller v. City of Soldotna, AWCB Case No. 8904332 (June 13, 1991). "[F]or lack of motivation to be significant, there must be a showing that work is available within the employee's capabilities."  Hewit v. Peter Kiewit & Sons, 586 P.2d 182, 185 (Alaska 1978).


Employee's doctors have consistently released her to work (except as a painter), provided she was not exposed to respiratory irritants.  In support of its contention that Employee voluntarily removed herself from the labor market, Employer produced evidence that (1) Employee was unavailable for work because she was attending college, (2) jobs for which Employee was qualified exist in the viable labor market and (3) Employee failed to appear for a job Employer crafted to be within Employee's medical restrictions.  Employer's argument related to Employee's college attendance is two-fold: (1) Employee's commitment to full-time study is inconsistent with being available for work, and (2) the demands of attending college, including commuting in cold weather and exposure to a public setting, are similar to the stresses and demands of the work place.


Employer's direct argument regarding Employee's schooling has little merit, and its inferential argument is of little probity.  If an employee is "disabled" and off work because of a work-related injury, the fact that the employee makes other productive use of the time does not disqualify the employee from receiving disability benefits.  Cortay v. Silver Bay Logging, 787 P.2d 103 (Alaska 1990) (employee assisting wife's medical recovery).
  The court in Silver Bay Logging,  787 P.2d at 108, quoted Justice Boochever's concurrence in Jones v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 600 P.2d 738, 741 (Alaska 1979)(Boochever, J., concurring) with approval, as follows:


I believe that where a worker is disabled from employment because of work connected disability, he should be entitled to utilize the period during which he is necessarily disabled from work to further his education, to take care of any medical treatment or to engage in any similar activity without forfeiting his compensation benefits.  (Emphasis in original).

Based on the foregoing authorities, we hold the mere fact Employee attended college while collecting TTD is, by itself, no evidence that she was not disabled or not entitled to continuing TTD benefits.  


We also reject Employer's argument that Employee's college attendance proves she is fully capable of working.  Attending college classes in Anchorage, Alaska during winter months may entail commuting in cold weather, exposure to the general public in an institutional setting, and exposure to common substances that Employee and her doctor assert are irritating to her lungs.  However, Employer produced no direct evidence concerning Employee's classroom attendance, classroom environment, the means by which she travelled to her classes, or even whether Employee was required to physically attend classes.  We further note that if Employee encounters a respiratory irritant in a college setting, she is free to leave the irritating environment.  In a work setting, however, Employee's tasks and environment are largely controlled by a third party, her employer.  We find the typical school setting is distinguishable from the typical work setting.  The adverse inference Employer seeks to have us draw from Employee's schooling is, at best, only minimal or slight evidence that Employee was not disabled.  In sum, we find Employer's evidence relating to Employee's schooling is not substantial evidence that can overcome the presumption that employee was, and continues to be, disabled.


Employer also introduced the testimony of a vocational rehabilitation specialist, Elisa Conley.  Conley's reports and testimony establish there are at least eight employers in the Anchorage community and the state of Alaska who employ cargo handlers, baggage agents, or equivalent positions, jobs Employee held within the last ten years prior to her injury.  Conley offered the opinion that an active, viable labor market exists  for these positions.  Despite this testimony, we find Conley's reports and testimony do not constitute substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability, because there was no evidence that any of the cargo handler or baggage agent positions were within the respiratory exposure restrictions Dr. Stewart set for Employee.  Thus, there was no showing that work in the general labor market is available within Employee's capabilities. Hewing, 512 P.2d at 899.


In mid-October 1997 Employer advised Employee of a current opening for a "scanner" in its accounting office.  Employer contends that Employee's failure to apply for this position constitutes a voluntary removal from the labor market.  Employee contends we should not consider this evidence because the scanner position was not formally offered to Employee in writing.  


There is no requirement that to be valid, a job offer must be written.  Wilson v. Pioneer Door, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 98-0152 (June 16, 1998).  Further, to defeat a claim for disablity benefits, an employer has no burden to show that an actual offer of work within employee's physical, medical, and other employment qualifications was made to an employee.  It is only necessary for an employer to prove that an active viable labor market for such work exists.


Employee was advised of the scanner position after she had returned to work for two days and was again exposed to paint fumes, and after October 14, 1997 when Dr. Stewart imposed the much broader restriction for a "totally fume free environment."  Steinert testified that when Employee advised her she could not be in contact with perfume "it put another damper on bringing her back".  We infer from Steinert's testimony that  Employee did not have the capacity, as defined by her doctor at that time, to work as a "scanner."  Therefore, Employee's failure to apply for the scanning position does not show Employee removed herself from the labor market in mid-October 1997.


Finally, Employer produced evidence that, on Thursday, January 29, 1998, it formally offered Employee a full-time ramp technician's position with modified duties and flexible work assignments, specifically crafted to fall within Dr. Stewart's exposure restrictions, as the doctor and his office had communicated those restrictions to Employer.  Employee conditionally accepted the position and agreed to begin work on Monday, February 2, 1998, if Dr. Stewart approved the job and Employee's modified duties.


There is also no dispute that Employer has never spoken with Dr. Stewart.  Steinert testified that following the January 29th meeting she contacted Dr. Stewart's office and spoke with Tom Stafford, Dr. Strewart's nurse, concerning whether the doctor would approve the ramp technician position for Employee.  Stafford was not called as a witness by either party, and there is no direct evidence concerning what Stafford allegedly said to Steinert.


We find Steinert's testimony concerning statements allegedly made to her by Stafford are hearsay under Alaska Evidence Rule 801(c).  Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.120(e), provides in pertinent part as follows:


Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but it is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions.

We have not been directed to an exception to the hearsay rule that would render Stafford's statements to Steinert admissible over objection in civil actions.  And, we have no evidence as to the specific information Steinert provided to Stafford concerning Employer's proposed modified duties before he allegedly said the job was suitable for Employee.  Accordingly, we can make no finding concerning whether Stafford approved or disapproved the position offered to Employee.  Even if we were permitted to consider Stafford's hearsay statements, there is no evidence in the record from which we could conclude that Stafford was authorized to act as Dr. Stewart's agent for approving or disapproving Employee's return to work.


Steinert testified that, after speaking with Dr. Stewart's office, she called Employee and told her the job was approved.  On January 30, 1998,  Employer wrote Employee indicating it had spoken with Dr. Stewart's office and instructing her to report to work on "Monday, February 2, 1998 at 8:00 a.m. sharp . . .."  There is no dispute that Employee did not contact Employer or report to work on February 2, 1998, or at anytime since that date.  On Tuesday, February 3, 1998 Employer terminated Employee for failing to call in or show up for work on Monday.


In Professor Larson's view, before an employer's offer of modified work can be a basis to curtail or reduce an employee's benefits, it must be shown that (1) the job offered by the employer was suitable for the employee,
 and (2) employee's refusal of suitable work was not on reasonable grounds.
   If an employer establishes the job was suitable and the employee's rejection of the work was unreasonable


 . . . the usual holding is that it is a suspension of benefits for the period of the refusal.  Thus, if a claimant, after an initial refusal, changes his mind and decides to accept the proffered job, the suspension is lifted, even if in the mean time the job has become unavailable.

4 A. Larson, Worker's Compensation Law, Sec. 57.66(c).  Thus, in order for  Employer's offer of modified ramp technician position to be competent evidence that  Employee voluntarily removed herself from the labor market, Employer must produce substantial evidence both (1) that the proposed duties were suitable for Employee, and (2) Employee's failure to accept the position by attending work on February 2, 1998, was unreasonable.


The record reflects Employer knew, from Dr. Stewart's correspondence and Dr. Arora's report, Employee should avoid exposure to cold air and auto exhaust.  Employer stressed that Employee's proposed duties were modified to avoid exposure to cold air, however there was no evidence Employer made any effort to shield Employee from exhaust fumes.  In light of Steinert's testimony that vehicles and planes were driven into the hangar for cleaning and service, we find that the proposed work environment was not totally fume free of a pulmonary irritant noted by the physicians.  Therefore, Employer had reason to know that its proposed work environment did not meet Employee's medical restrictions.


Further, it is not Employer's belief, reasonable or otherwise, concerning whether a proposed position is suitable for Employee that is at issue.   Rather, the issue is whether it is in fact suitable.  In the first instance, suitability is a medical determination made by the Employee's physician.
  If Employer disputes this medical determination, it is incumbent upon Employer to come forward with contrary medical evidence.  Because no such contrary medical evidence has been produce, we find that Employer has failed to produce substantial medical evidence that it offered Employee a suitable position.


Even if we could find  Employer's proposed position was suitable, we would not find unreasonable Employee's failure to show up for work on February 2.  Employer's evidence shows that on Thursday, January 29, Employee conditionally accepted the offered position, if Dr. Stewart approved it.  Dr. Stewart's approval was an express condition precedent to Employee's acceptance and her duty to show up for work on the following Monday, February 2.  Employer produced no evidence that Dr. Stewart approved the position. Steinert testified that she has never, despite numerous attempts, spoken with Dr. Stewart.  Employer only produced inadmissible hearsay evidence that Dr. Stewart was unavailable and Nurse Stafford approved the position.  Even if we were permitted to consider Stafford's hearsay statements, it is Dr. Stewart's approval that is at issue, not his nurse's medical opinion based on an alleged review of the doctor's file.  Further, even if the approval of Dr. Stewart's nurse were sufficient to satisfy the condition of the doctor's approval, Employer failed to produce evidence concerning what proposed duties Steinert disclosed to Stafford and, hence, the basis for the nurse's opinion that the job was acceptable for Employee.


Finally, even if Employer had produced substantial evidence that the modified position was suitable and Employee unreasonably rejected the work offer, it would provide Employer little relief from its duty to pay Employee TTD benefits.  The general rule is that an employee's unreasonable rejection of suitable modified employment only suspends an employee's disability, and therefore entitlement to disability benefits.  Id.  In the instant case, Employer's offer of modified work was only open from February 2, 1998 until February 3, 1998 when it terminated all Employee's employment.  Hence, even if Employer prevailed in its arguments, it would only achieve a two day suspension in its duty to pay TTD.


Viewing all Employer's evidence in isolation, and without weighing it against Employee's evidence or assessing the credibility of testimony, we find Employer failed to produce substantial competent evidence that Employee was not totally disabled on February 2, 1998.
  We find Employer failed to rebut the presumption that Employee's entitlement to TTD benefits continued after February 1, 1998.  We award Employee TTD benefits from February 2, 1998 to the day of our hearing and continuing thereafter, until Employee becomes medically stable,
 becomes only partially disabled,
 returns to work,
 or voluntarily removes herself from the labor market.


In addition, we find Employee was off work from October 3, 1997 to October 12, 1997 and from October 15, 1997 to October 27, 1997 because of her work-related injury; and she is entitled to TTD benefits during these periods.  We further find, based on check stubs and a computer print-out, that Employer has not paid TTD for these periods.
  In the controverted TTD for the period after February 1, 1998, we award Employee the uncontroverted TTD benefits for these two earlier periods in October 1997. 

Is Employee Entitled to an Award of Interest

AS 23.30.155(a) provides, in pertinent part, "[c]ompensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer."  AS 23.30.155(b) governs when compensation must be paid and provides:


The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days, except where the board determines that payment in installments should be made monthly or at some other period.

8 AAC 45.142 mandates the payment of interest on overdue payments of compensation, and provides in pertinent part:


If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid. . . .

See also, Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1191-92 (Alaska 1984).  The Alaska Supreme Court interprets the requirement for interest payments broadly.  "Interest awards are a way to recognize the time value of money, and they give 'a necessary incentive to employers to release . . . money due."  Childs, 860 P.2d at 1191, quoting Moretz v. O'Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989).


Under the foregoing authorities, Employer had a duty to pay Employee all accumulated TTD benefits every 14 days.  Employee is entitled to recover interest, at the statutory rate, on any payment of compensation not made on the 14th day after it was due, and that obligation continues to earn interest until those compensation benefits were, or are, actually paid.


We find Employee is entitled to an award of interest on the controverted TTD benefits we have today found to be due to Employee after February 1, 1998.  Interest is due to Employee from the date payment of each installment of TTD should have been made to the date of actual payment.  We further find that Employee is entitled to interest on the uncontroverted TTD benefits that were not paid to Employee for the periods from October 3, 1997 to October 12, 1997 and from October 15, 1997 to October 27, 1997.

Is Employee Entitled to a Penalty Under AS 23.30.155(3) on TTD any Installment of TTD Benefits?

AS 23.30.155(e) governs penalties for nonpayment without an award and provides as follows:


If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed by the employer under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a  showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for payment.


We find Employer timely controverted Employee's entitlement to TTD benefits after February 1, 1998.  Therefore, Employee is not entitled to a penalty on any portion of those benefits.  


Employer did not controvert Employee's entitlement to TTD benefits prior to February 1, 1998.  As stated above, we found Employee was entitled to TTD benefits for the periods from October 3, 1997 to October 12, 1997 and from October 15, 1997 to October 27, 1997.  We also found those benefits were not paid.  We now find these benefits were not paid more than seven days after they were due. Employer made no showing that these benefit installments were not paid because of any condition over which it had no control.   Accordingly,  we find that, in addition to these unpaid TTD benefits, Employee is entitled to a penalty in an amount equal to 25 percent of the TTD benefits due to Employee for these two periods in October 1997.

Is Employee Entitled to an Award of Attorney's Fees?
AS 23.30.145 provides in pertinent part:


(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 per cent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .  In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

In order to recover attorney's fees in excess of the statutory minimum, 8 AAC 45.180(b) provides, in pertinent part, as follows:


An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.


We find that Employer controverted and resisted payment of all benefits awarded to Employee in this decision.  We find that Employee prevailed on all issues Employee brought before the board, and is therefore entitled to an award of attorney's fees.  At our hearing Employee's counsel represented that an affidavit in support of Employee's attorney's fees in excess of the statutory minimum had been filed.  After a search of the Board's records, we can find no evidence of such an affidavit.  8 AAC 45.180(b) is mandatory; without a supporting affidavit we cannot award attorney's fees in excess of the statutory minimum.  We award Employee the statutory minimum attorneys fees provided in AS 23.30.145(a) on all benefits, penalties and interest awarded to Employee.

Is Employee Entitled to an Award of Legal Costs?

At the April 30, 1998 prehearing conference, Employee amended her claim to include legal costs. 8 AAC 45.180(f) governs the award of legal costs and provides, in pertinent part, as follows:


The board will award the applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. (emphasis added)


In order to recover legal costs Employee must file an affidavit conforming to the requirements of 8 AAC 45.180(f).  Without such an affidavit, we have no discretion to award Employee legal costs. We can find no record of an affidavit mandated by subsection 180(f) having been filed by Employee.  We are, therefore, without authority to award Employee any of her legal costs, and those costs are herewith denied.


If Employee did file an affidavit of costs or an affidavit of actual attorney's fees, Employee's remedy is by motion for reconsideration.  We will not hesitate to revisit the issue of costs and attorney's fees if timely affidavits were filed conforming to the provisions of the above cited regulations.


ORDER

1.  Employer shall pay Employee TTD benefits for the period from February 2, 1998 and continuing.


2.  Employer shall pay Employee TTD benefits for the periods from October 3, 1997  to October 12, 1997, and October 15, 1997 to October 27, 1997.


3.  Employer shall pay Employee interest at the statutory rate on each installment of benefits awarded in Order 1 and 2, above from the 14th day after such installments were due until the date of actual payment


4.  Employer shall pay Employee a penalty in an amount equal to 25 percent of the unpaid TTD benefits for the periods from October 3, 1997  to October 12, 1997, and October 15, 1997 to October 27, 1997. 


5.  Employer shall pay Employee attorney fees at the minimum statutory rate set forth in AS 23.30.145(a) on all compensation benefits we award in this decision, including all TTD benefits paid to Employee after the hearing.


6.  Employee's claim for legal costs is denied.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 23rd day of July, 1998.

                               ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



 /s/ Steven Constantino 


Steven Constantino, 



Designated Chairman



 /s/ S.T. Hagedorn 


Steve Hagedorn, Member



 /s/ John A. Abshire 


John Abshire, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of Heather H. Stewart, employee/applicant; v. ERA Aviation, Inc., employer; and Reliance National Indemnity Co., insurer/defendants; Case No. 9721987; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 23rd day of July, 1998.



Elena A. Cogdill, Clerk
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     �Employee's time cards [Ex. 7] indicate that Employee was on "vacation" from October 3, 1997 to October 13, 1997,  however, Employer's Compensation Reports state Employer paid Employee TTD benefits covering this period.  As discussed later,  the parties' proofs of payment indicate Employer did not pay TTD for this period.


     �Ellipse in original.


     �It is unclear from the record whether this meeting took place on October 15th or 16th, 1997.  It is also unclear whether it took place before or after Dr. Stewart transmitted to Employer a list of respiratory irritants to which  Employee should not be exposed.


     �This letter was sent by certified mail and the return receipt shows that Employee received it on January 23, 1998.  [Ex. 8]


     �The Employer's testimony concerning the wages Employer intended to pay Employee for the ramp technician's job was ambiguous.  Ms. Steinert testified both that Employer would have paid Employee her pre-injury wages of $13.00 per hour and also, hat Employer would have paid Employee 80% of her pre-injury hourly wage.  Employee testified there was no discussion of wages during the January 29, 1998 meeting.


     �Ms. Steinert testified that she has never spoke with Dr. Stewart.


     �Dr. Stewart testified that he had no record or recollection of being out of town in on this date.


     �Although both parties listed Tom Stafford, R.N., by name or by reference, on their respective witness lists, neither party called Stafford to testify at the hearing and there is no evidence in the record concerning these conversations except the testimony presented during the hearing.


     �Employee has not appealed this determination and it is not at issue in this case.


     �Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379 (Alaska 1991)


     �Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkison, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


     �Burgess Construction v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


     �Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74.


     �Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991)(medical benefits).


     �Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661 (Alaska 1991).


     �Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992) (quoting  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


     �Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Ass'n., 860 P.2d 1184,1189 (Alaska 1993).


     �Miller v. Itt Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (quoting Thornton v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966)).


     �Veco Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869 (Alaska 1985).


     �Norcon Inc. v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1055 (Alaska 1994); Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 869.


     �Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 870.


     �Id.


     �Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


     �AS 23.30.185 provides as follows: 


	In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.


     �AS 23.30.200(a). provides as follows:


	 In case of temporary partial disability resulting in decrease of earning capacity the compensation shall be 80 percent of the difference between the injured employee's spendable weekly wages before the injury and the wage-earning capacity of the employee after the injury in the same or another employment, to be paid during the continuance of the disability, but not to be paid for more than five years.  Temporary partial disability benefits may not be paid for a period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.


     �See also, Estate of Ensley v. Anglo Alaska Construction, Inc., 773 P.2d 955 (Alaska 1989)(employee's non-work-related cancer treatment); Collins v. Trident Seafoods, AWCB No. 910109 (April 18, 1991)(alcohol treatment); Lajiness v. H.C. Price Construction, AWCB No. 890046 (February 24, 1989)(incarceration); Mallot v.� Fluor Alaska, Inc., AWCB No. 810118 (April 30, 1981).


     �Similarly, there is no direct evidence concerning what Employee testified Stafford said to her a short time later.


     �See 4 A. Larson, Worker's Compensation Law,  Sec. 57.66(a)


     �4 A. Larson, Worker's Compensation Law,  Sec. 57.66(b)


     �There is no dispute that on February 4, 1998, Dr. Stewart disapproved the duties Employer proposed for the modified ramp technician position.


     �We note that all doctors have concluded Employee is able to work, provided she is not exposed to respiratory irritants, raising the possibility that Employee is only partially disabled. However, Employer did not raise this argument and produced no evidence from which we could find that Employee has a residual earning capacity.  In the absence of such evidence, we decline to speculate on Employee's residual earning capacity.


     �AS 23.30.185


     �AS 23.30.200(a)


     �Baily v Litwin Corp, 713 P.2d 249, 254 (Alaska 1986).


     �Vetter, 524 P.2d at 266


     �The parties stipulated to the authenticity, accuracy, and admission into evidence of check stubs attached to TTD payments Employee received and a computer print-out of Employer's payments of benefits to Employee. [Ex. 5.]







